Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

DocuSigned by: Ida t. Forkow 77270EEB3CA4C6

Ida Tchuisseu Fonkoue

3/24/2023

PTSD Symptoms Severity and Sleep Quality Predict Vascular Dysfunction in Young, Trauma-Exposed Women

By

Ida Tchuisseu Fonkoue M.D., Ph.D.

Clinical Research

Vasiliki Michopoulos Advisor

Jordan Kempker Committee Member

Abigail Powers Lott Committee Member

Accepted:

Kimberly Jacob Arriola, Ph.D, MPH Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

3/24/2023

PTSD Symptoms Severity and Sleep Quality Predict Vascular Dysfunction in Young, Trauma-Exposed Women

By

Ida Tchuisseu Fonkoue M.D., Ph.D.

Advisor: Vasiliki Michopoulos, Ph.D., M.Sc.

An abstract of

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Clinical Research 2023

Abstract

PTSD Symptoms Severity and Sleep Quality Predict Vascular Dysfunction in Young, Trauma-Exposed Women

By Ida Tchuisseu Fonkoue

Posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is linked to sleep disturbances and significantly higher risk of developing cardiovascular disease (CVD). Further, vascular dysfunction and sleep are independently associated with CVD. Uncovering the link between PTSD symptom severity, sleep disturbances and vascular function could shine a light on mechanisms of CVD risk in trauma-exposed young women. Therefore, the purpose of the present study was to investigate the individual and combined effects of sleep efficiency and PTSD symptom severity on vascular function. We recruited 60 otherwise healthy women (age, 26±7 years and BMI, 27.7 ± 6.5 kg/m²) who had been exposed to trauma. We objectively quantified sleep efficiency (SE) using actigraphy, endothelial function via Framingham reactive hyperemia index (fRHI), and arterial stiffness via pulse wave velocity (PWV). PTSD symptom severity was assessed using the PTSD checklist for DSM-5 (PCL5). PWV was correlated with age (r = .490, p < .001) and BMI (r = .484, p < .001). Additionally, fRHI was positively correlated with SE (r = .409, p=.001) and negatively correlated with PTSD symptoms (r=-.382, p=.002). Next, to explore the predictive value of SE and PTSD symptoms on PWV and fRHI, we conducted two separate multiple linear regression models. The model predicting PWV was significant (R^2 =.49, p<.001), with age, BMI and SE emerging as predictors. Likewise, the model predicting fRHI was significant (R^2 =.36, p<.001), with both PTSD symptoms and SE as significant predictors. Our results suggests that while PTSD symptom severity impacts endothelial function, sleep efficiency influences overall vascular function in young trauma-exposed women, after controlling for age and BMI.

PTSD Symptoms Severity and Sleep Quality Predict Vascular Dysfunction in Young, Trauma-Exposed Women

By

Ida Tchuisseu Fonkoue M.D., Ph.D.

Advisor: Vasiliki Michopoulos, Ph.D., M.Sc.

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Clinical Research 2023

Table of Contents

1.	Introduction	7
2.	Materials and methods	3
3.	Results	8
4.	Discussion	15
5.	Acknowledgements	19
6.	Grants	19
7.	Disclosures	19
8.	References	20

List of Figures

Figure 1. The gap in knowledge	2
Figure 2. Experimental Design	
Figure 3. Correlations with pulse wave velocity (PWV)	
Figure 4. Correlations with reactive hyperemia index (RHI)	13

List of Tables

Table 1. Descriptive characteristics of participants	9
Table 2. Bivariate correlations among mental health surveys	
Table 3. Multiple linear regression for pulse wave velocity	
Table 4. Multiple linear regression for fRHI	
i C	

1. Introduction

Posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is a debilitating disorder that can develop in individuals after either witnessing or experiencing a traumatic event and is often complicated by the co-occurrence of conditions such as depression, drug and alcohol use, and eating disorders (1–3). Recent evident suggests individuals who have been exposed to trauma and/or developed posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) are at increased risk for cardiometabolic complications including CVD and type-2 diabetes mellitus (4, 5). Cardiovascular diseases (CVD) such as coronary artery disease or heart attack remain the leading cause of death among women in the United States, starting as early as 20 years old (6). Further, women are more likely to suffer from interpersonal trauma and are two to three times more likely to develop PTSD than men (7–9). However, the underlying mechanisms linking trauma and PTSD in women to CVD remain unclear.

Sleep disturbances (i.e. disruptive nighttime behaviors), which are a frequent complaint among adults who have experienced trauma and develop PTSD (10), have emerged as a modifiable risk factor for CVD (11). In 2022, the American Heart Association added sleep to its cardiovascular checklist "Life's Essential 8", highlighting the central role of sleep in cardiovascular health (12). In the last decade, multiple studies have revealed that total sleep deprivation increases systolic and diastolic BP in both men and women (13, 14). Moreover, there is strong evidence that short sleep durations are associated with hypertension in women, but not men (15, 16). Low sleep efficiency indicated by actigraphy is associated with greater arterial stiffness (17) and a significant predictor of future cardiovascular risk. Further, endothelial dysfunction, an initiating step in atherosclerosis, is a marker of future CVD (18, 19) and might also be influenced by sleep quality (20, 21). This association between sleep and vascular dysfunction may be driven by lack of nocturnal dipping of blood pressure, which is a strong independent predictor of CVD risk (22). Sustained elevated blood pressure (allostatic load) at night may increase atherosclerotic plaques and stiffness of large arteries leading to greater risk for CVD (23). Thus, it is likely that the association of PTSD with CVD risk may emerge through interacting physiological and behavioral mechanisms that relate to both PTSD symptoms and CVD, such as sleep. While the evidence is accumulating to support that insufficient sleep and vascular dysfunction independently contribute to adverse cardiovascular conditions, uncovering the associations between sleep and vascular dysfunction could shine a light on mechanisms of CVD risk in otherwise healthy, trauma-exposed women. This could serve to identify at-risk women who may benefit from targeted interventions, with the ultimate goal of lowering CVD risk.

Therefore, the purpose of the present study was to investigate the individual and combined effects of sleep quality and PTSD symptom severity on two markers of vascular dysfunction: arterial stiffness and endothelial function. We hypothesized that both PTSD symptom severity and objective sleep measures, particularly low sleep efficiency, would both be associated with greater arterial stiffness and endothelial dysfunction. Due to the comorbidity of depression and anxiety with PTSD, we also investigated their contributions to these associations.





2. Materials and methods

Ethical Oversight: All procedures in this study were approved by the Institutional Review Board of the University of Minnesota.

Study Sample: Female participants were recruited from the University of Minnesota Twin Cities (Minneapolis and St. Paul) campus, the surrounding community, women's shelters and through the University of Minnesota Medical Center, Fairview Hospital. Eligibility requirements for all phases of the study included a history of trauma, age (18 - 40 years old), premenopausal women, free from any known CVD and the ability to give informed consent. Exclusion criteria included trans women and men and non-binary individuals, pregnant, breastfeeding, or unwilling to practice birth control during participation in the study, medical conditions such as hypertension, diabetes, heart disease, vascular disease, ongoing illicit drug use, excessive alcohol use (>2 drinks per day), hyperlipidemia, autonomic dysfunction, any serious systemic disease, medications for PTSD or other cardiovascular diseases, psychiatric comorbidities such as ongoing substance abuse, severe traumatic brain injury and the inability or unwillingness to abstain from nicotine use for at least 12 hours prior to physiologic studies (visit 2). The goal of theses exclusion criteria was to limit heterogeneity in circulating estrogen level as well as comorbid conditions that could have an effect on our exposures and outcome variables. Eligibility criteria were assessed via screening survey and phone interviews. Trauma exposure was self-reported and stated in writing by the participants. Although participants were asked to report the trauma that currently affects them the most, they were welcome to list more than one traumatic event if applicable.

Experimental Design (see *Figure 2*): We used a cross-sectional study design for the current study. After completing the screening survey online, participants who met the inclusion criteria were invited to the lab for the first of their two visits. All visits (visit 1 and 2) occurred between

8:00 AM and 1:00 PM. During visit 1, after obtaining written informed consent, we administered interviews and surveys, measured vital signs, collected anthropomorphic data, and configured the Actiwatch to record participants' sleep/wake patterns for seven days. Participants were also instructed to maintain a sleep diary. Prior to visit 2 (vascular visit), all subjects were instructed to abstain from smoking, exercise, alcohol, caffeine and over-the-counter medication affecting blood pressure for 12 h before laboratory testing and a minimum of 6 h for food. Visit 2 was scheduled within 1-5 days after the onset of menstruation, to ensure that vascular measurements are recorded during the early follicular phase of the menstrual cycle. For each participant, a urine pregnancy test was performed to exclude pregnancy. During this visit, after 10 min of rest upon arrival, participants were fitted for endothelial function measurement (reactive hyperemia index; RHI) using endothelial Peripheral Arterial Tone (EndoPAT) by forearm occlusion technique. Following EndoPAT, we waited 30 min to ensure that the participant was back to baseline conditions. Next, we performed pulse wave velocity (PWV) measurement using Applanation Tonometry for assessment of arterial stiffness (described below as well). Participants were compensated for the two visits.



Measures:

Exposure variables:

PTSD checklist for DSM-5 (PCL5) with criterion A (traumatic event). The PTSD checklist is a 20-item self-reported questionnaire based on the *fifth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (DSM-5) symptoms of PTSD (24). Participants reported how much they were bothered by a symptom over the past month using a 5-point Likert scale (0 = 'Not at all', 1 = 'A little bit', 2 = 'Moderately', 3 = 'Quite a bit', 4 = 'Extremely'), with a total score ranging from 0 to 80. Participants were asked to complete the PCL5 in relation to the traumatic experience that troubled them the most. It was updated to the PTSD Checklist for DSM-5 with criterion A (24). PCL is one of the most widely used screening measures for PTSD and findings support PCL5 as a psychometrically sound measure of PTSD in individuals at high risk for exposure to trauma (25) .

Spielberger State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Adults. The STAI ("Form Y") assesses selfreported anxiety (both state and trait anxiety) using a validated 40-item four-point Likert scale questionnaire (26). State anxiety reflects transient (i.e., current moment) emotional anxiety due to situational stress. Trait anxiety assesses an individual's predisposition to react with anxiety in any stressful event. Together, the STAI allows quantification of personal characteristic anxiety reactivity, as well as transient fluctuations dependent on the situation. Both subscales have been shown to have good internal reliability and test-retest reliability (27).

Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II). The BDI-II is a well-validated 21-item self-report measure, scored from 0 to 3, of current depressive symptoms (28). In the first portion of the test, psychological symptoms are assessed whereas the second portion assesses physical symptoms. In this study, items were summed to create an overall, continuous depression severity score and to

compute a categorical diagnostic of current depression where a cut-off score greater than 18 suggests probable depression (28).

Outcome variables:

Objective sleep quality measured by wrist actigraphy. We quantified sleep quality using 24hour actigraphy and sleep surveys. Wrist actigraphy is a measure of 24-hour sleep/wake cycles using Actiwatch Spectrum Plus (Philips Respironics, Bend, OR). Participants wore the Actiwatch for seven consecutive nights and days to include weekdays and weekends (i.e., Monday – Sunday). A sleep diary was kept simultaneously and used to adjudicate the start and the end of the primary sleep period. The Actiwatch records activity counts each second (sampling rate: 32 Hz) with the mean of each second summed for each 30-second epoch. Data were averaged over the seven-day wear period. 24-hour actigraphy allowed objective measurement of sleep variables of interest including total sleep time (TST), sleep efficiency (ratio of TST to total time in bed), sleep latency, and wakefulness after sleep onset (WASO) time spent awake in bed after falling asleep. Sleep efficiency was our primary sleep measure of interest.

Subjective sleep quality. Participants also completed three validated questionnaires for evaluating subjective sleep, including (1) Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) (29), (2) Insomnia Severity Index (ISI) (30), and (3) Epworth Sleepiness Scale (ESS) (31).

Endothelial function. Endothelial function was assessed via peripheral arterial tonometry using the EndoPAT2000 device (Itamar Medical Ltd., Caesarea, Israel). Reactive Hyperemia Index (RHI) obtained via peripheral arterial tonometry provides a validated estimation of microvascular endothelial function that correlates closely with direct angiographic measurements of coronary endothelial function (32, 33) as previously described (34–36). While FMD assesses the health of conduit vessels, Endo-PAT is a good measure of microvasculature function (33). Inflatable

pressure cuffs were attached to the index fingers of both hands while the participants rested in the supine position in a quiet laboratory. A blood pressure cuff was placed in the participant's nondominant forearm. After a 6 min resting baseline, the blood pressure cuff was inflated to a suprasystolic pressure (>220 mmHg) for a period of 5 min, followed by rapid cuff deflation and data collection (recovery) for another 5 mins. RHI was calculated as follows: the ratio of the occluded arm's mean pulse wave amplitude 90-150 seconds post occlusion to the mean PWA from baseline readings of the same arm. The result was further divided by the same ratio from the control arm, which allows the device to account for non-endothelium-dependent vascular changes during testing (37). The final ratio is then multiplied by a proprietary baseline correction factor (Itamar Medical Ltd). An alternative reactive hyperemia score, proposed by Framingham Heart Study researchers, uses the natural logarithmic transformation of the RHI ratio (fRHI), does not include the baseline correction factor, and utilizes only the readings from 90 to 120 seconds for post occlusion (37). fRHI has been shown to be more reproducible than RHI in young individuals (38), is reliable using day-to-day measurements in healthy and diseased population (32), and is more highly associated with several cardio-metabolic risk factors; including obesity (38).

Aortic arterial stiffness. We quantified arterial stiffness via applanation tonometry (SphygmoCor XCEL, Atcor Medical, Sydney, Australia) with the participant lying in the supine position. Pulse wave velocity (PWV) measurements were performed non-invasively using a tonometer placed over the carotid artery and a blood pressure cuff over the femoral artery. The distance from the carotid to femoral artery measurement sites was measured and PWV was calculated as the quotient of the distance and the time delay between the carotid and femoral pressure waveforms (m/s). The SphygmoCor method uses the foot of the waveform as an onset point for calculating the time

differences between the R wave and the pulse waveforms at each site (39). We collected 2-3 measures of PWV per participant and calculated the average value.

Data analysis: The overall analytic approach was to examine the predictive value of sleep efficiency and PTSD severity on vascular function using both self-report measures and objective measures. We ran descriptive analysis for baseline characteristics of the overall sample. To minimize the likelihood of making a type-II error with multiple testing, bivariate Pearson product correlations were used next to determine which anthropometric, psychological and sleep measures (i.e., PCL5 score, BDI, PSQI, and SE%) were associated with vascular function (fRHI, PWV). Due to the role they could have in these associations, depression, anxiety, age and BMI were included in initial correlation analyses. Next, a series of linear regression models were fit to examine the individual and combined predictive values of PTSD symptom severity (PCL5 score) and SE on fRHI and PWV, while controlling for participants' age, BMI, depression symptom severity (BDI score) and trait anxiety (STAI score). Specifically, we conducted two multiple linear regression models predicting fRHI and PWV separately. All analyses were conducted using SPSS v.28 with a significance level of p < .05. A listwise deletion (complete-case analysis) approach was used to handle missing data for the linear regression.

3. Results

Descriptive statistics and average vascular measures for the women included in our study are presented in *Table 1*. The study included 60 young trauma-exposed women with a mean age of 26.0 years (SD = 7 years, range =18 – 40) and BMI of 27.7 kg/m² (SD=6.5 kg/m², range=17.0 – 43.1). Overall, the participants were normotensive (mean±SD) (SBP=105.6±9.0, DBP=68.5±9.0 mmHg) but resting heart rate (76±11 beats/min; bpm) tended to be high for some participants ranging from 55 to 120 bpm. PTSD symptom severity (35.53 ± 15.9 a.u.) and depression severity (18.4 ± 10 a.u.) were mild to moderate in our sample while anxiety severity was moderate on average for trait (45.7 ± 12.2 a.u.) and high for state (51.6 ± 12.3 a.u.). On average, the women in our study had poor objective sleep as evidenced by an average sleep efficiency of $81.7\pm5.5\%$. Likewise, subjective sleep was poor with a PSQI score of 8.8 ± 3.9 a.u., ISI score 11.2 ± 5.9 a.u. and ESS score of 8.6 ± 4.0 a.u. Endothelial function is reported as RHI, LnRHI and fRHI. Arterial stiffness is reported as PWV and augmentation index. From the overall sample of 60, a subset of 57 women had available vascular data.

Variables (n=60)	Mean±SD	Minimum	Maximum
Participant's characteristics:			
Age (years)	26.0±7	18	40
Weight (lb)	166.7±46.8	109.6	309.0
BMI (Kg/m ²)	27.7±6.5	17.0	43.1
Abdominal circumference (cm)	82.2 ± 20.8	27.0	126.0
Hemodynamic:			
Systolic Blood Pressure (mmHg)	105.7±9.0	88	125.0
Diastolic Blood Pressure (mmHg)	68.5±9.0	48.3	88.0
Mean Arterial Pressure (mmHg)	80.3±8.2	62.5	99.7
Heart rate (beats/min)	76.3±11.5	55.3	120.7
Respiratory rate (breaths/min)	15.6±2.8	7	24
Mental Health:			
Beck's Depression Inventory-II	$18.4{\pm}10$	0	44
PTSD checklist for DSM-5 criterion A (PCL5)	35.53±15.9	5	62
State-Trait Anxiety Inventory Trait (STAI-T)	45.7±12.2	20	71
State-Trait Anxiety Inventory State (STAI-S)	51.6±12.3	24	71

Table 1. Descriptive characteristics of participants

Subjective:Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) 8.8 ± 3.9 217	
Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) 8.8±3.9 2 17	
Insomnia Severity Index (ISI) 11.2±5.9 0 26	
Epworth Sleepiness Scale (ESS)8.6±4.0118	
Objective:	
Sleep Efficiency (%) 81.7±5.5 64.4 92.3	
Onset latency (min) 31.5±22.1 0.5 127.4	
Wake After Sleep Onset (min) 45.9±15.4 20.4 90.5	
Total Sleep Time (min) 436.2±57.3 305.4 614	
Vascular Measures:	
Endothelial function:	
Reactive hyperemia index (RHI)1.98±0.691.123.88	
Natural logarithm of reactive hyperemia index (LnRHI)0.61±0.330.111.22	
Framingham reactive hyperemia index 0.44 ± 0.43 -0.17 1.33	
(fRHI)	
Arterial stiffness:	
Pulse wave velocity (PWV) (m/s) 5.83±0.82 4.35 8	
Augmentation Index (AI) (unit)123.08±8.7106.0151.5	

BMI= Body Mass Index;

Table 2 depicts correlations among the different mental health assessments collected in the study, as well as with age and BMI. PTSD (PCL5), depression (BDI) and state anxiety (STAI) symptom severity were highly correlated with each other (p<.001). Additionally, BMI was correlated with BDI, PCL5 and STAI trait (p<.05).

	Age (years)	BMI (kg/m ²)	BDI-II score	PCL5 Score	STAI-Trait	STAI-State
Age (years)						
BMI (kg/m ²)	.22					
BDI-II score	05	.36**				
PCL5	.09	.27*	.67***			
STAI-Trait	.17	.30*	.38**	.38**		
STAI-State	04	.17	.64***	.48***	.63***	

Table 2. Bivariate correlations among mental health surveys

Note. *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001; N=60; BMI=Body mass index; BDI-II=Beck's depression inventory II; PCL5=PTSD checklist for DSM5 criterion A; STAI-Trait= State-trait anxiety inventory for adults-trait; STAI-State= State-trait anxiety inventory for adults-state. These are bivariate correlations results using Pearson correlation coefficient.

Figure 3 are scatterplots depicting the bivariate correlations between PWV and the predictors which are age, BMI, sleep efficiency and STAI-trait. These were included in the linear regression model later. There were significant positive correlations between PWV and age (r =.490, p<.001), BMI (r =.484, p<.001), and STAI-trait (r =.344, p=.004) as seen in panels **A**, **B** and **D**. Sleep efficiency (panel **C**) showed no association with PWV (r=-.168, p=.112). Additionally, although not depicted here, age and BMI were moderately correlated (r=.242, p=.026).



Figure 3. Correlations with pulse wave velocity (PWV)

Figure 3. The association between PWV and age (**A**), BMI (**B**), sleep efficiency (n=54) (**C**), and STAI-trait (**D**) in 57 young healthy trauma exposed women (age range 18–40 yr). A Pearson product correlation coefficient and *p*-value <.05 as was considered as significant. Strong correlations were observed between PWV and age (r =.490, *p*<.001), BMI (r =.484, *p*<.001), STAI-trait (r =.344, *p*=.004). However, there was no relationship between PWV and sleep efficiency (r=.168, *p*=.112). PWV= Pulse wave velocity (m/s); BMI= Body Mass Index (kg/m²); STAI-trait= State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Adults-Trait.



Figure 4. The association between fRHI and age (**A**), BMI (**B**), PCL5 (n=53) (**C**), and sleep efficiency (n=53) (**D**) in 57 young healthy trauma-exposed women (age range 18–40 yr). A Pearson product correlation coefficient was used to assess the relationship and p-value <.05 was considered as significant. Strong correlations were observed between fRHI and PCL5 (r=-.382, p=.002) and sleep efficiency (r=.409, p=.001). Age (r=.178, p=.095) and BMI (r=-.178, p=.095) were not associated with fRHI. fRHI= Framingham Reactive Hyperemia Index; BMI= Body Mass Index; PCL5= PTSD checklist for DSM-5 criterion A.

The result of the first multiple linear regression model predicting PWV is shown in *Table 3*. The final model with age, BMI, STAI trait and sleep efficiency accounted for nearly 50% of the variance in PWV in this population of trauma-exposed young women (R^2 =.490, p<.001). In this model, sleep efficiency (β =-.268, p=.013) but not PCL5 was associated with PWV. In contrast, as shown in *Table 4*, both PCL5 (β =-.373, p=.005) and sleep efficiency (β =.358, p=.005) were significant predictors of fRHI in the final model (R^2 =.360, p<.001) which included age, BMI, PCL5 and sleep efficiency. Although age (β =.233, p=.068) and BMI (β =-.148, p=.261) was not associated with fRHI.

Table 5. Whitiple incar regression for pulse wave velocity					
Predictor variables	β coefficient	t statistic	95% CI	p-value	
(Constant)		4.501	3.220, 8.414	<.001*	
Age (years)	.416	3.865	.026, .082	<.001*	
BMI (kg/m ²)	.341	3.058	.016, .076	.004*	
State-Trait Anxiety (STAI-trait)	.201	1.873	001, .029	.067	
Sleep efficiency (%)	268	-2.587	071,009	.013*	

Table 3. Multiple linear regression for pulse wave velocity

*R*²= 0.49, *p*<0.001, *n*= 54; *BMI*= Body mass index

Table 4. Multi	ple linear	regression	for fRHI

Predictor variables	β coefficient	t statistic	95% CI	p-value
(Constant)		-2.005	-2.945, 0.006	.051
Age (years)	233	1.867	001, 0.031	.068
BMI (kg/m ²)	148	-1.138	028, 0.008	.261
PCL5	373	-2.988	016, -0.003	.005*
Sleep efficiency (%)	.358	2.935	0.008, 0.044	.005*

 R^2 = 0.36, p<0.001, n=50; BMI= Body mass index; PCL5= PTSD checklist for DSM5 criterion A

4. Discussion

In this cross-sectional study, we investigated the predictive value of PTSD symptoms and sleep on vascular function in young trauma-exposed women. Our goal was to determine if PTSD symptom severity and/or sleep disturbances influenced vascular function in this community sample. Our main finding is that PTSD symptoms have a greater impact on endothelial function, while sleep efficiency impacts both arterial stiffness and endothelial function. Second, we found that age and BMI predicted arterial stiffness, but not endothelial function. The close link between PTSD symptom severity, sleep and endothelial function in these young and otherwise healthy women suggest that endothelial dysfunction may be a key component of early vascular dysfunction in women exposed to trauma, and can serve to identify at-risk women who may benefit from targeted interventions, with the ultimate goal of lowering CVD risk.

Accumulating evidence suggests that vascular dysfunction is independently associated with CVD (18, 19, 40). The current study revealed that arterial stiffness in trauma-exposed women increases with age and BMI, with age as the main predictor. These findings are consistent with well-established age- and obesity-related risks of CVD (41–44). However, we did not anticipate such a strong association of arterial stiffness with age in this sample of premenopausal women when circulating levels of estrogen are expected to be higher overall; especially given prior minimal changes in PWV reported between the ages of 20 and 40 years in a cohort of 987 healthy individuals (45). A recent paper with 891 resistant hypertensive patients revealed that increased aortic stiffness predicts adverse cardiovascular outcomes and mortality (46). Therefore, in young otherwise healthy women, the significant change in aortic stiffness already present between the ages of 18 and 40 years old could be increasing the cardiovascular risk profile of women after menopause, when the beneficial effects of estrogen on vascular function is lost. Estrogen is a

vasodilator and hypotensive agent, inducing vascular relaxation by acting directly on the vascular smooth muscle to stimulate the release of endothelium-derived vasodilatory substances like nitric oxide (47). Prior research has found that trauma-exposed women diagnosed with PTSD who display lower level of estrogen have a higher psychophysiological response to hyperarousal stimulus than those with normal levels, suggesting a possible mediating effect of estrogen in trauma-associated cardiovascular dysfunction (48).

Endothelial dysfunction, an early marker of atherosclerosis (19) which is associated with a decline in the production of the vasodilator agent nitric oxide, was also examined in the current study using fRHI. The Framingham Heart Study previously reported that fRHI is inversely correlated with various cardiovascular risk factors (49). Although age and increased BMI significantly contributed to arterial stiffness in our sample, they did not have a comparable effect on endothelial function. Instead, PTSD symptom severity and low sleep efficiency, two direct consequences of trauma exposure, predicted endothelial function, such that a higher PTSD symptoms and lower objective sleep efficiency are associated with a low fRHI. At the 2022 North American Menopause Society Annual Meeting in Atlanta, GA, researchers from the University of Pittsburgh presented data highlighting that in 260 postmenopausal women, those with a history of trauma also had lower levels of estrogen, compared to women without trauma (50). Thus, it is possible that trauma may promote lower estrogen levels, thereby inhibiting the vasoprotective effects of estrogen via regulation of eNOS/NO production on endothelial function. PTSD symptoms are associated with low-grade inflammation that is linked to atherosclerosis development (51). We previously reported elevated levels of systemic (TNF- α , CRP, IL-1 β , IL-6) and vascular markers of inflammation such as cell adhesion molecule (ICAM-1) in patients with high PTSD symptoms (52). In addition to contributing to vascular remodeling by promoting cell

growth and proliferation of vascular smooth muscles, vascular inflammation could be impairing endothelial function by reducing vascular NO bioavailability and increasing oxidative stress (53, 54). Endothelial dysfunction could be the acute marker of vascular dysfunction in this population, while arterial stiffness might appear over time with chronic sleep disturbances.

Low sleep efficiency may contribute to both aspects of vascular dysfunction in trauma, regardless of age and BMI. Poor sleep – a CVD risk factor – is common after trauma exposure (10, 11). A recent community-based cohort study of 3810 participants (55) from the SHHS (Sleep Heart Health Study) investigated the role of sleep efficiency in CVD based on polysomnography records and reported that sleep efficiency was associated with the incidence of primary (major adverse cardiovascular event) and secondary composite cardiovascular outcomes. In general, the women in our study had poor sleep. Objective sleep efficiency of 82% was lower in our sample than the recommended 85% (56). Several studies suggest that women may be at heightened risk for sleep insufficiency-related CVD (57). In a non-PTSD population, Carter et al. found that sleep deprivation elicited sympathetic arousal in post-menopausal women but not men (13). Moreover, Holwerda et al. highlighted the acute effect of sympathetic activity on central artery stiffness (58). The chronic increase in sympathetic arousal might exert an allostatic load on the vascular wall leading to smooth muscle remodeling and stiffening of the arterial wall over time. This might explain why sleep efficiency predicted both endothelial function and arterial stiffness.

Of note, PTSD and depression severity was mild to moderate in our sample. On the other hand, anxiety severity in our sample ranged from moderate to severe and was a significant predictor of arterial stiffness in the current study. A negative association between anxiety and sleep have been reported (59). Excess anxiety can make it harder to fall asleep and stay asleep through the night, and sleep disturbances can worsen anxiety. The current results show that while endothelial dysfunction is more related to PTSD symptom severity, there is some association between trait anxiety and resting arterial stiffness in young trauma-exposed women. However, that association was dampened when we controlled for BMI due to the correlation between trait anxiety and BMI in our sample. Studies support a link between anxiety and the development of HTN and CVD (60–62). Increased sympathetic reactivity and vasoconstriction to a laboratory mental stress task was found in individuals with chronic anxiety compared to controls (63). Moreover, augmented sympathetic reactivity to a physical stressor has been found to increase carotid artery pulse wave velocity without modulation in blood pressure and heart rate (64).

There are important limitations to note about the present study. First, we had a relatively small sample size for multiple linear regression analyses. A larger sample size including objective sleep indicators such as our actigraphy measure or polysomnography could yield more powerful results. Second, the current study is cross-sectional and correlational, and therefore neither causal nor temporally oriented conclusions can be drawn. Future prospective studies with controlled comparisons are necessary to inform etiology and focused conclusions and implications. Third, the current study did not assess trauma load or examine how the associations and predictions may vary by traumatic event type. Future research should investigate if different types of traumatic event exposures are differentially related to sleep problems and vascular markers of CVD risk. Fourth, given the biological sex and age group of our participants, the results may not generalize to other populations. Of note, we excluded trans people who are likely to have high rates of trauma and CVD risks. However, given that young women are also underrepresented in research and are increasingly at risk for PTSD and its related complications, including CVD, the value of studying this population far outweighs any limitations of generalizability. Finally, we did not measure circulating levels of estrogen.

Findings from the current study have important clinical implications. Specifically, sleep could be a useful tool to assess future risk of cardiovascular disease in individuals with PTSD, as sleep deprivation is known to be associated with increased risk of hypertension and cardiovascular events (57). Therefore, identifying trauma-exposed women with poor sleep can serve to identify at-risk individuals who may benefit from targeted sleep interventions, with the ultimate goal of lowering cardiovascular risk. Future clinical trials aimed at reducing CVD risk in individuals with PTSD would benefit from examining the intersection of sleep, low estrogen and vascular health.

5. Acknowledgements

We are grateful for our amazing participants and the dedicated Neurobiology of Emotion, Sleep and Trauma (NEST) lab team. Particularly, we would like to acknowledge our amazing students Redeat Wattero, Azhaar Mohamed, Sayra Medina Banuelos, Katherinne Fox, Emilie Brigham, Lauren Kreutziger, Brittany Dusek and Timothy Bass. This work would not have been possible without the supportive staff of the Division of Physical Therapy.

6. Grants

This study was supported by the following grants: K01HL161027 and UMN CTSI UL1TR002494.

7. Disclosures

None

8. References

- 1. **María-Ríos CE**, **Morrow JD**. Mechanisms of Shared Vulnerability to Post-traumatic Stress Disorder and Substance Use Disorders. *Front Behav Neurosci* 14: 6, 2020. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2020.00006.
- Reyes-Rodríguez ML, Von Holle A, Ulman TF, Thornton LM, Klump KL, Brandt H, Crawford S, Fichter MM, Halmi KA, Huber T, Johnson C, Jones I, Kaplan AS, Mitchell JE, Strober M, Treasure J, Woodside DB, Berrettini WH, Kaye WH, Bulik CM. Posttraumatic stress disorder in anorexia nervosa. *Psychosom Med* 73: 491–497, 2011. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e31822232bb.
- 3. **Brady KT**. Posttraumatic stress disorder and comorbidity: recognizing the many faces of PTSD [Online]. *J Clin Psychiatry* 58 Suppl 9: 12–15, 1997. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9329446.
- 4. Edmondson D, von Känel R. Post-traumatic stress disorder and cardiovascular disease. *Lancet Psychiatry* 4: 320–329, 2017. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30377-7.
- 5. Koenen KC, Sumner JA, Gilsanz P, Glymour MM, Ratanatharathorn A, Rimm EB, Roberts AL, Winning A, Kubzansky LD. Post-traumatic stress disorder and cardiometabolic disease: improving causal inference to inform practice. *Psychol Med* 47: 209–225, 2017. doi: 10.1017/S0033291716002294.
- 6. Tsao CW, Aday AW, Almarzooq ZI, Alonso A, Beaton AZ, Bittencourt MS, Boehme AK, Buxton AE, Carson AP, Commodore-Mensah Y, Elkind MSV, Evenson KR, Eze-Nliam C, Ferguson JF, Generoso G, Ho JE, Kalani R, Khan SS, Kissela BM, Knutson KL, Levine DA, Lewis TT, Liu J, Loop MS, Ma J, Mussolino ME, Navaneethan SD, Perak AM, Poudel R, Rezk-Hanna M, Roth GA, Schroeder EB, Shah SH, Thacker EL, VanWagner LB, Virani SS, Voecks JH, Wang N-Y, Yaffe K, Martin SS. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2022 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 145: e153–e639, 2022. doi: 10.1161/CIR.000000000001052.
- 7. **Guina J, Nahhas RW, Kawalec K, Farnsworth S**. Are gender differences in DSM-5 PTSD symptomatology explained by sexual trauma? *J Interpers Violence* 34: 4713–4740, 2019. doi: 10.1177/0886260516677290.
- 8. **Olff M.** Sex and gender differences in post-traumatic stress disorder: an update. *Eur J Psychotraumatol* 8, 2017. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2017.1351204.
- 9. **Breslau N**. Gender differences in trauma and posttraumatic stress disorder [Online]. *J Gend Specif Med* 5: 34–40, 2002. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11859685.
- 10. Koffel E, Khawaja IS, Germain A. Sleep disturbances in posttraumatic stress disorder: Updated review and implications for treatment. *Psychiatr Ann* 46: 173–176, 2016. doi: 10.3928/00485713-20160125-01.

- 11. Wolk R, Gami AS, Garcia-Touchard A, Somers VK. Sleep and cardiovascular disease. *Curr Probl Cardiol* 30: 625–662, 2005. doi: 10.1016/j.cpcardiol.2005.07.002.
- 12. Lloyd-Jones DM, Allen NB, Anderson CAM, Black T, Brewer LC, Foraker RE, Grandner MA, Lavretsky H, Perak AM, Sharma G, Rosamond W, American Heart Association. Life's Essential 8: Updating and Enhancing the American Heart Association's Construct of Cardiovascular Health: A Presidential Advisory From the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 146: e18–e43, 2022. doi: 10.1161/CIR.000000000001078.
- 13. Carter JR, Fonkoue IT, Greenlund IM, Schwartz CE, Mokhlesi B, Smoot CA. Sympathetic neural responsiveness to sleep deprivation in older adults: sex differences. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 317: H315–H322, 2019. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00232.2019.
- Ogawa Y, Kanbayashi T, Saito Y, Takahashi Y, Kitajima T, Takahashi K, Hishikawa Y, Shimizu T. Total sleep deprivation elevates blood pressure through arterial baroreflex resetting: a study with microneurographic technique. *Sleep* 26: 986–989, 2003. doi: 10.1093/sleep/26.8.986.
- Grandner M, Mullington JM, Hashmi SD, Redeker NS, Watson NF, Morgenthaler TI. Sleep duration and hypertension: Analysis of > 700,000 adults by age and sex. J Clin Sleep Med 14: 1031–1039, 2018. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.7176.
- Cappuccio FP, Stranges S, Kandala N-B, Miller MA, Taggart FM, Kumari M, Ferrie JE, Shipley MJ, Brunner EJ, Marmot MG. Gender-specific associations of short sleep duration with prevalent and incident hypertension: the Whitehall II Study. *Hypertension* 50: 693–700, 2007. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.107.095471.
- 17. Liu X, Yan G, Bullock L, Barksdale DJ, Logan JG. Sleep moderates the association between arterial stiffness and 24-hour blood pressure variability. *Sleep Med* 83: 222–229, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2021.04.027.
- 18. **Drexler H**. Endothelial dysfunction: clinical implications. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis* 39: 287–324, 1997. doi: 10.1016/s0033-0620(97)80030-8.
- 19. Zeiher AM, Drexler H, Wollschläger H, Just H. Endothelial dysfunction of the coronary microvasculature is associated with coronary blood flow regulation in patients with early atherosclerosis. *Circulation* 84: 1984–1992, 1991. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.84.5.1984.
- 20. Cherubini JM, Cheng JL, Williams JS, MacDonald MJ. Sleep deprivation and endothelial function: reconciling seminal evidence with recent perspectives. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 320: H29–H35, 2021. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00607.2020.
- 21. Holmer BJ, Lapierre SS, Jake-Schoffman DE, Christou DD. Effects of sleep deprivation on endothelial function in adult humans: a systematic review. *GeroScience* 43: 137–158, 2021. doi: 10.1007/s11357-020-00312-y.
- 22. Calhoun DA, Harding SM. Sleep and hypertension. *Chest* 138: 434–443, 2010. doi: 10.1378/chest.09-2954.

- 23. Manuck SB, Kaplan JR, Adams MR, Clarkson TB. Studies of psychosocial influences on coronary artery atherosclerosis in cynomolgus monkeys. *Health Psychology* 7: 113–124, 1995.
- 24. Weathers F, Litz B, Keane T, Palmieri T, Marx B, Schnurr P. The PTSD Checklist for DSM-5 (PCL-5) 2013 Scale National Center for PTSD. 2013.
- 25. Morrison K, Su S, Keck M, Beidel DC. Psychometric properties of the PCL-5 in a sample of first responders. *J Anxiety Disord* 77: 102339, 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2020.102339.
- 26. Spielberger C, Gorsuch R, Lushene R, Vagg P, Jacobs G. State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Adults (Form Y): Manual, Test, Scoring Key. Redwood City. CA: Mind Garden Inc, 1983.
- 27. Ortuño-Sierra J, García-Velasco L, Inchausti F, Debbané M, Fonseca-Pedrero E. New approaches on the study of the psychometric properties of the STAI [Online]. *Actas Esp Psiquiatr* 44: 83–92, 2016. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27254400.
- 28. Beck AT, Steer RA, Brown GK. *Manual for the beck depression inventory-II*. San Antonio, TX: Psychological Corporation, 1996.
- 29. Buysse DJ, Reynolds CF 3rd, Monk TH, Berman SR, Kupfer DJ. The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Psychiatry Res* 28: 193–213, 1989. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(89)90047-4.
- 30. Bastien CH, Vallières A, Morin CM. Validation of the Insomnia Severity Index as an outcome measure for insomnia research. *Sleep Med* 2: 297–307, 2001. doi: 10.1016/s1389-9457(00)00065-4.
- 31. Johns MW. A new method for measuring daytime sleepiness: the Epworth sleepiness scale. *Sleep* 14: 540–545, 1991. doi: 10.1093/sleep/14.6.540.
- 32. Hansen AS, Butt JH, Holm-Yildiz S, Karlsson W, Kruuse C. Validation of repeated endothelial function measurements using EndoPAT in stroke. *Front Neurol* 8: 178, 2017. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00178.
- 33. **Flammer AJ**, **Anderson T**, **Celermajer DS**, **Creager MA**, **Deanfield J**, **Ganz P**, **Lerman**. The Assessment of Endothelial Function - From Research into Clinical Practice. *Circulation* 126: 753–767, 2012. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.112.093245.
- 34. Corrigan FE 3rd, Al Mheid I, Eapen DJ, Hayek SS, Sher S, Martin GS, Quyyumi AA. Low testosterone in men predicts impaired arterial elasticity and microvascular function. *Int J Cardiol* 194: 94–99, 2015. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.05.065.
- 35. Morris AA, Patel RS, Binongo JNG, Poole J, Al Mheid I, Ahmed Y, Stoyanova N, Vaccarino V, Din-Dzietham R, Gibbons GH, Quyyumi A. Racial differences in arterial stiffness and microcirculatory function between Black and White Americans. *J Am Heart Assoc* 2: e002154, 2013. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.112.002154.

- 36. Hassan M, York KM, Li H, Li Q, Lucey DG, Fillingim RB, Sheps DS. Usefulness of peripheral arterial tonometry in the detection of mental stress-induced myocardial ischemia. *Clin Cardiol* 32: E1-6, 2009. doi: 10.1002/clc.20515.
- 37. McCrea CE, Skulas-Ray AC, Chow M, West SG. Test-retest reliability of pulse amplitude tonometry measures of vascular endothelial function: implications for clinical trial design. *Vasc Med* 17: 29–36, 2012. doi: 10.1177/1358863X11433188.
- Konttinen J, Lindholm H, Sinisalo J, Kuosma E, Halonen J, Hopsu L, Uitti J. Association between lowered endothelial function measured by peripheral arterial tonometry and cardiometabolic risk factors - a cross-sectional study of Finnish municipal workers at risk of diabetes and cardiovascular disease. *BMC Cardiovasc Disord* 13: 83, 2013. doi: 10.1186/1471-2261-13-83.
- 39. Doupis J, Papanas N, Cohen A, McFarlan L, Horton E. Pulse wave analysis by applanation tonometry for the measurement of arterial stiffness. *Open Cardiovasc Med J* 10: 188–195, 2016. doi: 10.2174/1874192401610010188.
- 40. Rubinshtein R, Kuvin JT, Soffler M, Lennon RJ, Lavi S, Nelson RE, Pumper GM, Lerman LO, Lerman A. Assessment of endothelial function by non-invasive peripheral arterial tonometry predicts late cardiovascular adverse events. *Eur Heart J* 31: 1142–1148, 2010. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehq010.
- 41. **Donato AJ**, **Machin DR**, **Lesniewski LA**. Mechanisms of dysfunction in the aging vasculature and role in age-related disease. *Circ Res* 123: 825–848, 2018. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.312563.
- 42. Xu X, Wang B, Ren C, Hu J, Greenberg DA, Chen T, Xie L, Jin K. Age-related Impairment of Vascular Structure and Functions. *Aging Dis* 8: 590–610, 2017. doi: 10.14336/AD.2017.0430.
- 43. Bozkurt B, Aguilar D, Deswal A, Dunbar SB, Francis GS, Horwich T, Jessup M, Kosiborod M, Pritchett AM, Ramasubbu K, Rosendorff C, Yancy C, American Heart Association Heart Failure and Transplantation Committee of the Council on Clinical Cardiology; Council on Cardiovascular Surgery and Anesthesia; Council on Cardiovascular and Stroke Nursing; Council on Hypertension; and Council on Quality and Outcomes Research. Contributory risk and management of comorbidities of hypertension, obesity, diabetes mellitus, hyperlipidemia, and metabolic syndrome in chronic heart failure: A scientific statement from the American heart association. *Circulation* 134: e535–e578, 2016. doi: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000450.
- 44. Kenchaiah S, Evans JC, Levy D, Wilson PWF, Benjamin EJ, Larson MG, Kannel WB, Vasan RS. Obesity and the risk of heart failure. *N Engl J Med* 347: 305–313, 2002. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa020245.
- 45. Avolio AP, Kuznetsova T, Heyndrickx GR, Kerkhof PLM, Li JK-J. Arterial flow, pulse pressure and pulse wave velocity in men and women at various ages. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 1065: 153–168, 2018. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-77932-4_10.

- 46. **Cardoso CRL**, **Salles GC**, **Salles GF**. Prognostic impact of aortic stiffness in patients with resistant hypertension. *Hypertension* 73: 728–735, 2019. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.118.12367.
- 47. White RE. Estrogen and vascular function. *Vascul Pharmacol* 38: 73–80, 2002. doi: 10.1016/s0306-3623(02)00129-5.
- 48. Glover EM, Jovanovic T, Mercer KB, Kerley K, Bradley B, Ressler KJ, Norrholm SD. Estrogen levels are associated with extinction deficits in women with posttraumatic stress disorder. *Biol Psychiatry* 72: 19–24, 2012. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.02.031.
- Hamburg NM, Keyes MJ, Larson MG, Vasan RS, Schnabel R, Pryde MM, Mitchell GF, Sheffy J, Vita JA, Benjamin EJ. Cross-sectional relations of digital vascular function to cardiovascular risk factors in the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation* 117: 2467–2474, 2008. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.748574.
- 50. **Carson M**. Traumatic Experiences May be Associated With Lower Levels of Sex Hormones. 2022.
- 51. Herder C, de Las Heras Gala T, Carstensen-Kirberg M, Huth C, Zierer A, Wahl S, Sudduth-Klinger J, Kuulasmaa K, Peretz D, Ligthart S, Bongaerts BWC, Dehghan A, Ikram MA, Jula A, Kee F, Pietilä A, Saarela O, Zeller T, Blankenberg S, Meisinger C, Peters A, Roden M, Salomaa V, Koenig W, Thorand B. Circulating levels of interleukin 1-receptor antagonist and risk of Cardiovascular Disease: Meta-analysis of six populationbased cohorts. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 37: 1222–1227, 2017. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.117.309307.
- 52. Fonkoue IT, Marvar PJ, Norrholm S, Li Y, Kankam ML, Jones TN, Vemulapalli M, Rothbaum B, Bremner JD, Le N-A, Park J. Symptom severity impacts sympathetic dysregulation and inflammation in post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). *Brain Behav Immun* 83: 260–269, 2020. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2019.10.021.
- 53. Savoia C, Sada L, Zezza L, Pucci L, Lauri FM, Befani A, Alonzo A, Volpe M. Vascular inflammation and endothelial dysfunction in experimental hypertension. *Int J Hypertens* 2011: 1–8, 2011. doi: 10.4061/2011/281240.
- 54. Pierce {gary L., Lesniewski LA, Lawson BR, Beske SD, Seals} DR. Nuclear Factor-B Activation Contributes to Vascular Endothelial Dysfunction via Oxidative Stress in Overweight/Obese Middle-Aged and Older Humans. *Circulation* 119: 1284-1292., 2009. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.804294.
- 55. Yan B, Yang J, Zhao B, Fan Y, Wang W, Ma X. Objective Sleep Efficiency Predicts Cardiovascular Disease in a Community Population: The Sleep Heart Health Study. *J Am Heart Assoc* 10: e016201, 2021. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.120.016201.
- 56. Ohayon M, Wickwire EM, Hirshkowitz M, Albert SM, Avidan A, Daly FJ, Dauvilliers Y, Ferri R, Fung C, Gozal D, Hazen N, Krystal A, Lichstein K, Mallampalli M, Plazzi G, Rawding R, Scheer FA, Somers V, Vitiello MV. National Sleep Foundation's sleep

quality recommendations: first report. *Sleep Health* 3: 6–19, 2017. doi: 10.1016/j.sleh.2016.11.006.

- 57. Greenlund IM, Carter JR. Sympathetic neural responses to sleep disorders and insufficiencies. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 322: H337–H349, 2022. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00590.2021.
- Holwerda SW, Luehrs RE, DuBose L, Collins MT, Wooldridge NA, Stroud AK, Fadel PJ, Abboud FM, Pierce GL. Elevated muscle sympathetic nerve activity contributes to central artery stiffness in young and middle-age/older adults. *Hypertension* 73: 1025–1035, 2019. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.118.12462.
- 59. **Staner L**. Sleep and anxiety disorders. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci* 5: 249–258, 2003. doi: 10.31887/dcns.2003.5.3/lstaner.
- 60. Roest AM, Martens EJ, de Jonge P, Denollet J. Anxiety and risk of incident coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 56: 38–46, 2010. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2010.03.034.
- 61. Jonas BS, Franks P, Ingram DD. Are symptoms of anxiety and depression risk factors for hypertension? Longitudinal evidence from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey I Epidemiologic Follow-up Study. *Arch Fam Med* 6: 43–49, 1997. doi: 10.1001/archfami.6.1.43.
- Rosengren A, Hawken S, Ounpuu S, Sliwa K, Zubaid M, Almahmeed WA, Blackett KN, Sitthi-amorn C, Sato H, Yusuf S, INTERHEART investigators. Association of psychosocial risk factors with risk of acute myocardial infarction in 11119 cases and 13648 controls from 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. *Lancet* 364: 953– 962, 2004. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17019-0.
- 63. Holwerda SW, Luehrs RE, Gremaud AL, Wooldridge NA, Stroud AK, Fiedorowicz JG, Abboud FM, Pierce GL. Relative burst amplitude of muscle sympathetic nerve activity is an indicator of altered sympathetic outflow in chronic anxiety. *J Neurophysiol* 120: 11–22, 2018. doi: 10.1152/jn.00064.2018.
- 64. Nardone M, Floras JS, Millar PJ. Sympathetic neural modulation of arterial stiffness in humans. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 319: H1338–H1346, 2020. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00734.2020.